**RECEIVED**

**Jan 31 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellant Case № 2021-000982  
Lower Court Case Nos. 2019GS3600356, 2019GS3600357, 2019GS3600359**

---

**The State ..... Respondent,**

**vs.**

**Xzavier Sharif Davis ..... Appellant.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**C. RAUCH WISE  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
S.C. Bar # 6188  
(864) 229-5010  
rauchwise@gmail.com**

**Attorney for Appellant**

**

## **Statement of Issues on Appeal**

Question I: Did the trial court err in failing to charge involuntary manslaughter when the record contained evidence that Xzavier Sharif Davis was intending to commit the misdemeanor crime of malicious injury to personal property when he fired the shot that killed his step-son?

Question II: Did the trial court err in to giving the jury an improper definition of malice as being a disregard for human life and a confusing explanation of intent when the jury expressed confusion over the meaning of total disregard for human life and intent to inflict injury?

Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to quash the indictment as to attempted murder when the indictment contained the improper language of implied malice?

## **Statement of the Case**

### *Procedural History*

Xzavier Sharif Davis was arrested on April 20, 2019 for the shooting death of his step-son. The State indicted him for three counts of attempted murder, murder, and possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime. Prior to trial two attempted murder charges as to two of the children in the car were dismissed.

The state called his case for trial on August 23, 2021 before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury. He was tried on one count of attempted murder, murder and possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime. On August 26, 2021 he was convicted of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature as a lesser included of attempted murder, murder and possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime.

On August 26, 2021, Judge Culbertson sentenced him to 35 years for murder, 20 years for the assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, five years for the possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime. All sentences were to run concurrently.

On September 3, 2021, Mr. Davis filed his notice of appeal.

### *Factual History*

On April 19, 2021, Xzavier Sharif Davis, spent the morning of that day taking his step-son, the unfortunate victim of this tragic shooting, to get a hair cut. Rec. on App. at 223, ll 18-25. He had spent most of the day with his children, including his step-son. Rec. on App. 188, ll 13-18. Later that day he attended a fish fry with his father, cousin and other relatives. He had asked Indigo Davis, the mother of the minor child and now his wife, to go with him. Rec. on App. at 222, ll 12-25.

Mr. Davis arrived home well after midnight. His wife had gone to sleep. The doors to the house were locked. She was awakened when she heard him knocking on the doors. He ultimately broke the glass on the front door to gain access to his house. Rec. on App. at 192, ll 2-20. When asked why she did not get up to let him in she explained, "I had done took two Benadryls prior to, because I a party to deal with. So, I'm just, like really just waking up." Rec. on App. at 192, ll 23-25.

After Mr. Davis obtained entry to the house, an argument between Mr. Davis and his wife ensued. The argument was about her not opening the door for him. Rec. on App. at 193, ll 4-20. Rather than argue with Mr. Davis, Mrs. Davis stated she decided to just leave the house with the children. She testified she told her husband, "'Look, we'll just leave.' And I got the kids up off the pallet and stuff like that. And after that, I left, going out of the back door." Rec. on App. at 194, l 25 to 195, l 2.

Her car was parked at the front of the house. She went out the back door because there was broken glass at the front entrance. Rec. on App. at 199, ll 9-20. Mr. Davis was following her as she was leaving with the children. She noticed a gun in his hand. Rec. on App. at 200, ll 20. As she was leaving with the children, Mr. Davis fired the gun in the air. She was backing out as Mr. Davis was shooting. Rec. on App. at 205, ll 21-24. Mr. Davis was on the porch when the shooting started. Rec. on App. at 206, ll 8-11. Although Mr. Davis started shooting in the air, he eventually started shooting in the direction of the car. During the shooting, Mr. Davis used two different guns. As he was shooting in the direction of the automobile, a stray bullet wounded Mrs. Davis in the ankle. Rec. on App. at 207, ll 1-12. Tragically one of the stray bullets also hit his step-son. Rec. on App. at 209, ll 5-15.

Mrs. Davis testified she did not believe Mr. Davis was intentionally shooting at her or his step-son. Rec. on App. at 213, ll 11-24. She stated she was certain he was not trying to shoot anyone in the automobile. Rec. on App. at 215, ll 6-12. In response to a question as to what Mr. Davis was shooting, she responded, "Well looking at the pictures, he was trying to shoot at the tires." Rec. on App. at 215, ll 14-15. She further stated all Mr. Davis was doing was trying to stop her from leaving so "we could talk it out." Rec. on App. at 221, ll 1-9.

Vinnie Ray Hunter, the mother of Mrs. Davis, testified she heard gunshots somewhere around 2:30 am. She woke her husband who had slept through the gunshots. She had her husband call her daughter. When she was unable to reach her, her husband called Mr. Davis. Rec. on App. at 118, ll 2-10. When Mr. Davis was questioned about the shots, he said over the speaker phone, "Mr. Bo, I ain't no f----- chap. Nobody gone play with me. Don't play with me. Ain't nothing to play with." Rec. on App. at 119, ll 18-20. He was not asked about anyone being shot. He did not make a statement about anyone being shot.

The investigating officer found one of the firearms used in a green storage container near the back door. Rec. on App. at 285, ll 6-24. A 9-millimeter pistol was found under a mattress in the master bedroom of the house. Rec. on App. at 293, ll 2-10.

Mr. Davis was taken into custody about 4:06 am. Rec. on Appeal at 160, l 21 to 161, l 1. Officer Shawn Carnes testified they had received the initial call at about 3:16 am. Rec. on App. at 157, ll 1-4. Mr. Davis remained at the house after the shooting. As both firearms were found, he did not destroy or otherwise try to get rid of either weapon. The shell casings were also found at the house. Mr. Davis surrendered himself shortly after the officers made contact with him at the house. Rec. on App. at 161, l 23 to 162, l 1. He was cooperative with the arresting officers. Rec. on App. at 166, ll 12-18.

### **Standard of Review**

As all three issues involved in this appeal are questions of law, the standard of review is de novo. “We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018)

## Argument

### Question I

**Did the trial court err in failing to charge involuntary manslaughter when the record contained evidence that Xzavier Sharif Davis was intending to commit the misdemeanor crime of malicious injury to personal property when he fired the shot that killed his step-son?**

Unlike a directed verdict, when a defendant requests a charge on the law, the appellate courts must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant to determine if the requested charge should have been given. *State v. Coleman*, 342 S.C. 172, 536 S.E.2d 387 (Ct. App. 2000). “The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be *inferred* that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” *State v. Sams*, 410 S.C. 303, 308, 764 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2014)(emphasis added). The issue is not what would the justices of this court do under the facts nor what any rational juror would believe. The sole question is whether any evidence to support the defense theory as to involuntary manslaughter should be charged to the jury. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, the answer is yes.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has defined involuntary manslaughter saying, “Involuntary manslaughter is (1) the unintentional killing of another without malice, but while engaged in an unlawful activity not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) the unintentional killing of another without malice, while engaged in a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others.” *State v. Crosby*, 355 S.C. 47, 51–52, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003). At various times the appellate courts have also said “unlawful act” must not be a felony. This distinction, in today’s world, is not only artificial but confusing. In this case, the

issue need not be reached as there is evidence from which the jury could have concluded Mr. Davis was committing the misdemeanor of malicious injury to personal property.<sup>1</sup> In the typical felony murder case, the jury is only told they may infer malice through the doing of an unlawful felony. This is also confusing as the jury is then told to acquit a defendant for a murder charge if they do not infer malice. At common law as all felonies were punishable by death, whether the jury convicted the defendant of the murder or the underlying felony, the defendant would still be hung.

The first issue this court has to resolve is the contradictory cases in South Carolina involving the charge of involuntary manslaughter and the use of a firearm. The supreme court of our state has previously said, “Here, petitioner's actions do not fall into the first category, as he fired a gun which naturally tends to cause death or bodily harm.” *Bozeman v. State*, 307 S.C. 172, 177, 414 S.E.2d 144, 147 (1992). This case did not discuss a holding from decades earlier which said, “The defendant, while admitting that she fired the shot that killed Stanton, testified that she did not mean to hurt any one; that she was trying to quiet the McManus woman, who was drunk, very boisterous, and using profane language; that she asked her to be quiet and to go into the rear room and lie down, but she would not do so; that defendant merely intended to shoot through the floor to scare her, but that the bullet went at such an angle through the counter as to strike Stanton and mortally wound him.” *State v. Quick*, 168 S.C. 76, 167 S.E. 19, 20 (1932). *Quick* has not been overturned. In *Quick*, as in this case, the defendant did not intend to shoot an individual nor did they even intend to shoot at an individual. The supreme court has further said,

---

<sup>1</sup> While not raised at the trial below and therefore not part of this appeal, some courts have abolished the felony murder rule. *People v. Aaron*, 409 Mich. 672, 299 N.W.2d 304 (1980) contains an excellent discussion as to why the felony murder rule has little application in today's jurisprudence.

“It is the established rule in this jurisdiction that one who causes the death of another by the negligent use of a deadly weapon or instrumentality may be convicted of involuntary manslaughter.” *State v. Brown*, 205 S.C. 514, \_\_\_, 32 S.E.2d 825, 827 (1945).

In *Bozeman*, the defendant intended to fire a weapon in the direction of people he knew were present in the dark. *Bozeman* is thus not similar to *Quick* nor this case. If *Bozeman* is to be applied literally, then a defendant who uses a firearm will never be able to claim involuntary manslaughter unless the firearm accidentally discharges. No court in South Carolina has so held.

As to whether the firearm was fired in furtherance of a felony, this Court must again look at the facts in the light most favorable to Mr. Davis. “If there is *any* evidence warranting a charge on involuntary manslaughter, then the charge must be given.” *State v. Reese*, 370 S.C. 31, 36, 633 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2006) (emphasis added). Granted discharging a firearm into a vehicle is classified as a felony. S.C. Code § 16-23-440. Trial counsel argued below that Mr. Davis could have been guilty of malicious damage to personal property. Rec. on App at 520, ll 21-13. This act would have been a misdemeanor. S.C. Code § 16-11-510(B)(3). The state did not elect to indict for either charge. As long as there is evidence in the record to support this misdemeanor charge, the trial court is required to charge involuntary manslaughter. If the state had so indicted and the jury convicted Mr. Davis for malicious damage to personal property, this court could not say as a matter of law the conviction could not stand. Thus, there is evidence of the crime of malicious injury to personal property.<sup>2</sup> This has long been the hold of the court in our state.

Further, supreme court has said, “Involuntary manslaughter is a lesser included offense of murder only if there is evidence the killing was *unintentional*.” *Tisdale v. State*, 378 S.C. 122,

---

<sup>2</sup> While not raised below, could the defense counsel have requested a jury charge that if they believe Mr. Davis could have committed a misdemeanor, they are to find him not guilty?

125, 662 S.E.2d 410, 412 (2008) (emphasis added). In this case the mother of the child who was killed testified the killing of her son was not intentional. Both the solicitor and the mother referred to the tragic shooting as an accident. Rec. on App. at 182, ll 2-6. The mother further testified:

Q. (Mr. Geoley) Did you ever tell an officer Xzay shooting at you?

A, (Ms. Davis) No

Q. Do you think Xzay was shooting at Iven?

A. No

Q. I'm sorry for your loss. Next to you, who loved Iven as much as anybody?

A. Xzavier.

Rec. on App. at 213, ll 15-24.

The state never produced any evidence that Mr. Davis intended to harm his stepson. The failure to charge involuntary manslaughter in this case lead to a rather absurd result. In a manslaughter case, a defendant usually intends to kill the person who is killed. "Voluntary manslaughter, of course, is an offense which does involve intent on the part of the perpetrator but lacks the element of malice." *State v. Blassingame*, 271 S.C. 44, 46, 244 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1978). This is further supported by the jury in its verdict finding no specific intent to kill Ms. Davis. In this case, with no proof Mr. Davis intended to harm, much less kill his stepson or anyone, Mr. Davis was convicted of murder.

One of the problems with the failure to charge involuntary manslaughter is Mr. Davis never contended he did not do an act for which he should be punished. As to his step-son, the jury was left with the decision of punishing Mr. Davis for the only crime they had before them . This was unduly prejudicial to Mr. Davis. The finding of not guilty as to attempted murder shows the jury would have considered a lesser included offense.

## Question II

**Did the trial court err in giving the jury an improper definition of malice as being a disregard for human life and a confusing explanation of intent when the jury expressed confusion over the meaning of total disregard for human life and intent to inflict injury?**

After the jury had deliberated for a period of time they asked the this question: Does total disregard for human life supersede the intent to inflict injury? Rec. on App. at 657, ll 18-19. Defense counsel the question be answered wit a simple “no.” Rec. on App. at 657, l 20.

The trial judge brought the jury back into the court room to discuss the issue. The discussion, found on pages 666, l 18 to 813, l 15. The jury foreperson initially stated, “I think we’re trying to figure with intent and . . . Disregard for human life, I guess.” Rec. on App. at 667, ll 11-15. As the trial judge and two jurors were talking over each other the record is confusing. The Court first incorrectly told the jury, “intent deals with the defendant’s state of mind. What did the defendant intend to do? Disregard for human life deals with the defendant’s actions or the results of the actions. Was it with a disregard for human life?” Rec. on App. at 667, l 22 to 668, l 1. The court, at one point, told the jury, incorrectly, that “intent only applies to the charge of attempted murder.” Rec. on App. at 669, ll 14-15. Thus, the trial court told the jury no intent was required for the charges of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature or murder. All murder charges and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature involve an intent. *State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 15, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51 (1996). While the trial judge later stated that the state did not have to prove specific intent, this did not tell the jury they still must find an intent to be convicted of murder or assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. Again, the jury was misled as to being required to find an intent for the two charges upon which the jury convicted Mr. Davis.

The trial court compounded the error by having a discussion with the juror in which the trial court told the jury the state need only prove a disregard for human life and not a total disregard for human life. Rec. on App. at 668, ll 16-18. This incorrect statement was then picked up by the juror who stated, "I read that malice aforethought requires the showing of an intent to harm. And then, further on down, it says or it can be inferred by reckless disregard for human life." Rec. on App. at 668, ll 9-12. Again, the key word "total" was not used. Granted the juror later mentioned the word "total." Rec. on App. at 669, ll 1-8. The trial judge, however did not use the word total nor did he correct the juror when the juror improperly failed to include the word.

Prior to the discussion with the jury, defense counsel argued the answer to the question should be a simple "no." As he argued, "I mean, I . . . think we're . . . trying to guess at what they're asking instead of answering their question, which, clearly, Your Honor, the - - the answer to that is no." Rec. on App. at 657, l 23 to 658, l 4. A simple "no" would have answered the question and enabled the jury to come back with further questions if they were confused by the answer. What transpired once the jury entered the courtroom to discuss the issue, was to eliminate intent for the two charges for which he was convicted. The jury, in essence, was told if he did the act, he did the crime.

The error here is further compounded when what the trial judge told the jury in the full charge is analyzed. The judge originally told the jury, "Malice is hatred, ill will, or hostility towards another person. It is the intentional doing of a wrongful act without just cause or excuse and with in intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil

intent.” Rec, on App. at 636, ll 3-8.<sup>3</sup> The answers given to the judge in its discussion with the jury, contradicted this initial charge. Furthermore, the discussion never mentioned the malice from the wrongful act is implied malice. It can be rejected by the jury. The discussion simply told them intent on assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and murder were not relevant. If Mr. Davis did a dangerous act, he was guilty. The discussion with the jury simply completely undermined what the jury was told as to general intent. Rec. on App. at 637, ll 21-23.

The fact that the incorrect exchange of the law happened in response to a jury question, heightens the prejudice. “Further, because the definition of intent was given in response to the jury’s question, it was unduly emphasized as well, instead of just being part of the original instructions given.” *State v. Perry*, 434 S.C. 92, 104, 862 S.E.2d 451, 457 (Ct. App. 2021), Nine minutes after these erroneous instructions, the jury convicted Mr. Davis. Not enough time passed for the jury to have re-read and discussed the written instructions.

As the supreme court said over a decade ago, “A jury charge is no place for purposeful ambiguity.” *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009), extended by *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). In this case the error was beyond “purposeful ambiguity.” Here the error is grossly negligent contradiction. Trial counsel was correct in his objection when he said, “And I feel like we’ve kind of stepped on their province. I’d just renew my, you know, earlier objection .” Rec. on App. at 671, ll 12-14.

As the confusing, at best, answer to the jury’s question permitted Mr. Davis to be convicted of the two charges with no intent, both convictions should be reversed and a new trial

---

<sup>3</sup> The judge further charged the jury “Malice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life.” Rec. on App. at 637, ll 3-4. This charge violates the principle established in *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019); *see also Yates v. Evatt*, 500 U.S. 391 (1991), disapproved of on other grounds by *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62 (1991)

granted.

### Question III

**Did the trial court err in failing to quash the indictment as to attempted murder when the indictment contained the improper language of implied malice?**

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