**RECEIVED**

**Feb 07 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

XZAVIER SHARIF DAVIS,.....APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000982

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3970

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Box 516

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

S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994)(Whether the defendant intended to hurt the victim is irrelevant. The stabbing is clearly not a lawful act, and the intentional use of a dangerous instrumentality does not support the allegation of mere criminal negligence.)

- 2. The jury charge given by the trial court fully explained the proper definition of malice as a total disregard of human life and intent to inflict bodily injury. There exists no confusion by the explanation given by the trial court while answering the jury's question.**

### Relevant Facts

During jury deliberations the jury came back with a question, “Does total disregard for human life supersede the intent to inflict injury?” (R. p. 651 l. 22-23). At the time the question was read the trial court believed that the jury was deciding between attempted murder or ABHAN. The trial court wished to inform the jury that they had to find the defendant not guilty of the higher offense before they can consider if he committed the lesser included offense. Once the jury was brought out the jury foreman explained to the trial court that within the instructions it read, “that malice aforethought requires a showing of an intent to do harm. However, further down it says it can be inferred by reckless disregard for a human life.” (R. p. 668 l. 8-12). The court responded, that “deals with the way the state proves malice.” (R. p. 668 l. 13-14). The trial court further informed the jury that, “there is no distinction whether they prove it by a disregard for human life or whether they prove it by the intent to inflict injury.” (R. p. 668 l. 16-18). The trial court fully explained to the jury, “before you can find defendant guilty of attempted murder in this case, you have to show he specifically intended to murder Indigo Davis.”(R. p. 669 l. 20-22). “Whereas murder and the lesser included charges of attempted murder just require a general intent.” (R. p. 669 l. 24 – p. 670 l. 1). A juror responded, “Again under murder, we don’t need to show a specific intent if we have the implied inference?” (R. p. 670 l. 2-4). The court informed the jury, for murder you do not have to show specific intent.” (R. p. 670 l. 5-6).

### Standard of Review

A jury charge is correct if when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law. *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (CR. App. 2003). A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. *State v. Hoffman*, 312 S.C. 386, 395, 440 S.E.2d 869, 874 (1994), *citing*, *State v. Rabon*, 275 S.C. 459, 272 S.E.2d 634 (1980).

### Discussion

The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in not informing the jury concerning the “total” disregard of human life, and informing the jury that intent is not necessary to find a person guilty of murder. It is obvious the court was differentiating between specific intent and general intent. Appellant argues within his brief that the Court stated to the jury that intent only applies to attempted murder. If this Court looks at the record the trial court stated, “Specific –” (R. p. 669 l. 12) and then was interrupted by the juror. The trial court completed his sentence stating, “intent only applies to the charge of attempted murder.” (R. p. 669 l. 14-15). So, when observing the sentence of the trial court as a whole, he stated, “Specific intent only applies to the charge of attempted murder,” which correctly follows South Carolina law. Specific intent is required for attempted murder and Murder and ABHAN are general intent crimes.<sup>3</sup> It is obvious that the trial court did not mistake or give wrong instructions when he addressed the jury regarding their questions.

---

<sup>3</sup> “General intent” is defined as “the state of mind required for the commission of certain common law crimes not requiring specific intent.” *State v. Kinard*, 373 S.C. 500, 504, 646 S.E.2d 168, 169 (2007), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019), *quoting*, Black’s Law Dictionary 813 (7ed. 1999).

At time of his explanation, it is obvious the trial court was discussing specific intent as only applying to attempted murder. The trial court stated that specific intent only applied to attempted murder, while the other crimes such as murder and ABHAN are general intent crimes.

The Appellant also argues that the trial court erred when he told the jury that the State only needed to prove a disregard for human life and not a “total” disregard for human life. The written jury instructions that were given to the jury had the instruction which stated, “total” disregard for human life. It is obvious that the jury understood that it was a “total” disregard for human life, that is because it was stated that way within their question. The Appellant is getting into semantics in making this argument. It is obvious the trial court and jury knew that it included the word “total.”

Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). Appellant raised no objections as to the written instructions that were given to the jury, just to some confusion during this question, which answers were given that applied to South Carolina law. The Appellant is making a big deal about the judge saying that intent only applied to attempted murder which he did not say, and the written instructions definitely stated, “specific” intent. The trial court instruction stated, “criminal intent must be proven by the state beyond a reasonable doubt.” (R. p. 635 l. 1-2.). The trial court’s written instructions also stated, “ the defendant’s is also charged with attempted murder” . . . “now unlike the crime of murder attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill not general intent.” (R. p. 637 l. 18; l. 21-23). The trial court within its instructions also stated “criminal intent is a mental state, a conscious wrongdoing. You must determine what the defendant intended to do, based on the circumstances shown to have existed.” (R. p. 635 l. 17-20). Within his instructions the court

also stated, “malice may be inferred from conduct showing a **total** disregard for human life.” (R. p. 637 l. 3-4).

There is nothing confusing about how the jury charges were given by the trial court. They followed the law, and no objections were raised by trial counsel when asked if there were any objections to the jury charges. (R. p. 645 l. 23). There was no prejudice raised by the instructions given, so there is no reversible error. In order to warrant reversal, the jury instruction must have been prejudicial. *State v. Fripp*. 397 S.C. 455, 459, 725 S.E.2d 136, 139 (2012).

- 3. Appellant never made a motion to quash the indictment prior to the selection of the jury therefore, losing the ability to persuade the trial court to quash the indictment. Since it was not raised before the trial court the Appellant has waived the ability to raise this issue during an appeal.**

#### Relevant Facts

The indictment for attempted murder stated the words “expressed or implied malice.” The State moved not to have the indictment amended removing the words implied, in order not to confuse the jury when the court gave their jury instructions. (R. p. 13 l. 20-24). Because due to the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *State v. King*, for an attempted murder to occur, malice must be expressed. At that time, Appellant’s counsel objected to any removal of the word “implied” from the indictment. It was Appellant’s counsel’s position that everything within the indictment must be proven, and the State should not be allowed to remove any elements from the indictment. The court noted the Appellant’s objections however, the trial court decided to leave the indictment as it was and not remove any language. (R. p. 19 l. 21).

#### Standard of Review

Every objection to any indictment for any defect apparent on the face thereof shall be taken by demurrer or on motion to quash such indictment before the jury be sworn and not afterwards. S.C. Code Ann. §17-19-90 (1976). If an indictment is challenged as insufficient or defective, the

defendant must raise that issue before the jury is sworn and not afterwards. *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 101, 610 S.E.2d 494, 499 (2005)

### Discussion

The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in not quashing the indictment as to attempted murder because the indictment contained improper language of implied malice. The Respondent will argue that the indictment was lawful on its face and the trial court did the proper thing by not quashing the indictment.

Pursuant to *State v. King*, the South Carolina Supreme Court did rule that, “one cannot be guilty of attempted murder by implied malice because implied malice does not encompass the essential specific intent to kill. *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 57, 810 S.E.2d 18, 23 (2017). The indictment stated either “expressed or implied” which the State wished to remove implied. This request was denied by the trial court. Therefore, it was the obligation of the State to prove that attempted murder can be conducted through implied malice. Since that was not part of the jury charges that attempt failed and the Appellant was eventually convicted of ABHAN, which can occur through implied malice.

The Appellant argues that the indictment should have been quashed due to the word “implied malice” found on the indictment. However, the elements of the crime, the allegations, and the charges were also on the indictment. If they are on the indictment, that indictment is lawful, so the court did the proper thing not to quash the indictment but allow it to proceed as it was. This challenged the State to prove these allegations beyond a reasonable doubt. In *Gentry*, the South Carolina Supreme Court established what must be considered by the Court in order to quash an indictment. *Gentry* specifically states:

The indictment is a notice document, challenge to the indictment on the ground of insufficiency must be made before the jury is sworn as provided by §17-19-90. If

the objection is timely made, the circuit court should judge the sufficiency of the indictment by determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that it intended to be charged.

*Gentry*, 363 S.C. at 102-103, 610 S.E.2d at 500.

The indictment clearly raised the charges against the Appellant, and allegations. The court had knowledge of what the Appellant was accused of, and it gave the Appellant the opportunity to either accept the allegations or go through with a trial.

Within his brief the Appellant argued that the trial court denied the Appellant's motion to quash. However, no such motion was ever made by the Appellant before the jury was sworn. When the State made a motion to amend the indictment, the Appellant just objected to that motion. There was never a motion raised by the Appellant to have the indictment quashed. (R. p. 19 l. 14-23). Since that motion was never made, the Appellant does not now have the ability to request that this court decide if the trial court erred in not quashing said indictment. In *Gentry*, the Supreme Court also stated,

The indictment is the charge of the state against the defendant, the pleading by which he is informed of the fact, and the nature and scope of the accusation. When that indictment is presented, that accusation made, that pleading filed, the accused has two courses of procedure open to him. He may question the propriety of the accusation, the manner in which it has been presented, the source from which it proceeds, and have these matters promptly and properly determined; or, waiving them, he may put in issue the truth of the accusation, and demand the judgment of his peers on the merits of the charge. If he omits the former, and chooses the latter, he ought not, when defeated on the latter - when found guilty of the crime charged, - to be permitted to go back to the former and inquire as to the manner and means by which the charge was presented.

*Id.*, 363 S.C. at 102, 610 S.E.2d at 499-500.

There was never a mention by the Appellant that the court should quash the indictment. It was the intention of the State to prove that the Appellant specifically intended to murder Indigo. This is

proven by the dismissal of the other two indictments accusing the Appellant of attempting to murder the other two children in the vehicle. This indictment was never wrong on its face. The State just wished that one word be removed in order not to cause confusion between the indictment and the jury charges that were given by the trial court. However, since an indictment is never evidence, no prejudice ever occurred due to the fact the jury decided that the State did not prove there was a specific intent to kill. They decided to find the Appellant guilty of ABHAN.

The State will also argue that since there was never a motion to quash made by the Appellant before the trial court, that argument was never preserved and cannot be brought before this Court. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 139, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). The Appellant argues that the indictment should have been quashed, however, there was never a motion raised by the Appellant to have the trial court consider a quashing of the indictment. It would be unfair of this court to make a ruling that the trial court was in error when the trial court never had an opportunity to decide the legality of the indictment and whether it should be quashed. Since that issue was never raised before the trial court, it is waived and should not be allowed to be considered by this court. An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals. *Id.*, 587 S.E.2d at 694.

During trial the Appellant argued that the indictment should not be amended. The reason was because they felt the State could not prove the allegations as listed on the indictment, therefore, possibly getting the trial court to honor a motion for directed verdict. Trial counsel never requested that the trial court quash this indictment. Now the Appellant presents a different argument on appeal. The argument cannot be made one way before the trial court and then another total new

argument be made on appeal. A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 217 (2001).

The indictment on its face was proper, so the trial court made the proper decision in not amending it and allowing the allegations to go forward before the jury. The trial court committed no errors in not quashing this indictment. This issue was also not preserved by the Appellant's trial counsel; therefore, since it was not preserved, it should not be addressed by this court.

The State also argues that this allegation is moot due to the fact the Appellant was convicted of ABHAN and not attempted murder. An offense which the State presented sufficient evidence in proving Appellant committed beyond a reasonable doubt.

South Carolina law defines ABHAN as,

An unlawful act of violent injury to another accompanied by circumstances of aggravation. Circumstances of aggravation include the use of a deadly weapon, the intent to commit a felony, infliction of serious bodily injury, great disparity in the ages or physical conditions of the parties, a difference in gender, the purposeful infliction of shame and disgrace, taking indecent liberties or familiarities with a female, and resistance to lawful authority.

*State v. Fennell*, 340 S.C. 266, 274, 531 S.E.2d 512, 516-517 (2000).

The Appellant shot into the car occupied with his pregnant wife, hitting her in the ankle. The Appellant's act caused great bodily injury and it was done by means that could produce death or great bodily injury. There was never any denial that the Appellant shot into the vehicle which caused an injury to the leg of Indigo, therefore, he was guilty of ABHAN.

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